Regulation of mitochondrial gene expression, the epigenetic enigma

Archibold Mposhi^{1,2}, Monique GP van der Wijst¹, Klaas Nico Faber², Marianne G Rots¹

¹Epigenetic Editing, Department of Medical Biology and Pathology, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Hanzeplein 1, 9713 GZ Groningen, The Netherlands, ²Department of Hepatology and Gastroenterology, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Hanzeplein 1, 9713 GZ Groningen, The Netherlands

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
 - 2.1. Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)
 - 2.2. MtDNA transcription and replication
 - 2.3. Epigenetics and DNA methylation

3. Is mitochondrial gene expression regulated by a mitochondrial epigenetic layer?

- 3.1. Presence of mtDNA methylation
- 3.2. Specific subregions with importance for functional methylation
- 3.3. The role of TFAM and other proteins associated with mtDNA
- 4. Diseases and conditions associated with differential mtDNA methylation
 - 4.1. Metabolic diseases
 - 4.2. Neurodegenerative diseases
 - 4.3. Colorectal cancer
 - 4.4. Cardiovascular diseases
 - 4.5. Aging
- 5. MtDNA methylation and diseases, a cause or consequence?
- 6. Future perspectives
- 7. Acknowledgement
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Epigenetics provides an important layer of information on top of the DNA sequence and is essential for establishing gene expression profiles. Extensive studies have shown that nuclear DNA methylation and histone modifications influence nuclear gene expression. However, it remains unclear whether mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) undergoes similar epigenetic changes to regulate mitochondrial gene expression. Recently, it has been shown that mtDNA is differentially methylated in various diseases such as diabetes and colorectal cancer. Interestingly, this differential methylation was often associated with altered mitochondrial gene expression. However, the direct role of mtDNA methylation on gene expression remains elusive. Alternatively, the activity of the mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM), a protein involved in mtDNA packaging, might also influence gene expression. This review discusses the role of mtDNA methylation and potential epigeneticlike modifications of TFAM with respect to mtDNA

transcription and replication. We suggest three mechanisms: (1) methylation within the non-coding D-loop, (2) methylation at gene start sites (GSS) and (3) post-translational modifications (PTMs) of TFAM. Unraveling mitochondrial gene expression regulation could open new therapeutic avenues for mitochondrial diseases.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1. Mitochondrial DNA

Mitochondria are vital in driving the cell's metabolic activity as they are responsible for producing the bulk of the cell's energy requirements in the form of ATP, maintaining calcium homeostasis and inducing apoptosis (1-3). In the mitochondria, ATP is generated through the process of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), which occurs via the electron transport chain (ETC). Interestingly, with the

Feature	Nuclear DNA	Mitochondrial DNA		
Size (in bp)	~3 x 10 ⁹	16,569		
Shape	Linear double helix	Circular double helix		
Inheritance	Both parents	Maternal		
DNA copies/cell	2	~10-50,000		
Number of genes	~20,000 protein coding	13 protein-coding + 24 non-protein coding		
Gene density	~1 in 40,000 bp	1 in 450 bp		
Introns	Found in almost every gene	Absent		
% coding DNA	~3%	~93%		
Histones	Associated with the DNA	Not associated with the DNA		
CpG islands	24,000-27,000	None		
CpG density	1%	2.6.%		
Methylation	Present (3-4% of all Cs (~70-80% of all CpGs)) (mainly CpG)	Present (~1.55% of all Cs) (both CpG and CnonG)		
Hydroxymethylation	Present (0.0.3-0.6.9% of all Cs)	Present (6-8)		

Table 1. Differences	between human	nuclear DNA and	mitochondrial DNA
----------------------	---------------	-----------------	-------------------

exception of chloroplasts in plants, mitochondria are the only organelles that contain their own genome (mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)). Each mitochondrion contains about 1-10 copies of mtDNA (4, 5). MtDNA is distinctly different from the nuclear DNA (nDNA) (Table 1) (6-8). In part, this can be explained by the endosymbiotic theory, which states that mitochondria evolved from alphaproteobacterium that invaded eukaryotic cells (9-11). Indeed, similar to DNA of prokaryotic cells such as bacteria, mtDNA is a circular, double-stranded DNA molecule of approximately 16 kb in size (12). The mtDNA comprises a heavy (H) strand and a light (L) strand which encode 13 of the polypeptides that constitute the Complexes I, III, IV and V of the ETC (13). MtDNA also encodes some of its own transcriptional and translational machinery, which includes 22 tRNAs and 2 rRNA (11, 13, 14). However, it is important to note that, despite harboring their own genetic material, mitochondria are heavily dependent on the expression of nDNA which encodes the bulk of mitochondrially localized proteins (14). Not much is known about the complex coordination that exists between the nucleus and the mitochondria. It is known that gene expression in the nDNA is meticulously regulated via different mechanisms, including epigenetic modifications, transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation. However, it remains elusive whether mtDNA adheres to the same principles.

In this review, we start with an overview of the current evidence supporting the presence and functionality of mtDNA methylation and another epigenetic-like modification: the PTMs of TFAM. Subsequently, we will highlight studies in which differential mtDNA methylation was reported to occur in diseases. Finally, based on the literature reviewed, we put forward hypotheses on how these phenomena may contribute to mtDNA replication and transcription

2.2. MtDNA transcription and replication

Before we discuss how mtDNA methylation may influence mtDNA transcription and replication, we will first explain what is already known about these processes in mitochondria. Unlike the nDNA, which contains at least one promoter region per gene, the mtDNA contains only three promoter regions that transcribe multiple genes at once to produce polycistronic transcripts. The L-strand is transcribed from the L-strand promoter (LSP), whereas the H-strand is transcribed from the H-strand promoters 1 and 2 (HSP1, HSP2) (Figure 1). The HSP1 enables the transcription of 12S and 16S ribosomal RNAs while the HSP2 promotes transcription of the entire H-strand as a polycistronic transcript (see Figure 1) (15). For transcription the mitochondrial RNA polymerase (POLRMT), mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) and dimethyl adenosine transferase 2, mitochondrial protein (TFB2M) assemble at the promoters to initiate the synthesis of polycistronic RNAs that are later processed into single mRNAs (16, 17). These promoters are located within or in the vicinity of a 1 kb locus, known as the mitochondrial displacement loop (D-loop) or mtDNA non-coding region (NCR).Besides the promoters, the D-loop also contains the origin of replication of the H-strand (O_{μ}) . The L-strand origin of replication (O,) lies outside the D-loop (see Figure 1). The D-loop has a peculiar triple helix structure consisting of the L- and H- strand plus an additional 7S DNA primer, which forms the third nascent DNA strand (13). The replication of mtDNA is a rather complex process and three models have been proposed to explain the mechanism of mtDNA



Figure 1. Simplified diagram of human mitochondrial DNA.

replication (Reviewed by Holt *et al.*, and Nicholls, *et al.*,) (13, 17). In one of the models, it is hypothesized that the 7S DNA may play a pivotal role in mtDNA replication. Herein, according to this model, H-strand replication is initiated at the LSP leading to the synthesis of 7S RNA (13, 18). In the presence of the mitochondrial DNA polymerase-gamma (POLG), the newly-formed 7S RNA then primes the synthesis of the H-strand (13, 18). Even though the functions of the D-loop are still under debate, it is widely accepted that this structure facilitates mtDNA replication by maintaining an open structure (18). This makes the D-loop a likely candidate for epigenetic modifications, which can also have a major impact on the expression of mitochondrial genes (See 3.2.).

2.3. Epigenetics and DNA methylation

Epigenetics refers to the heritable changes in gene expression that do not involve alteration of the DNA sequence itself. As such, epigenetics provides the basis explaining why different cell types have different gene expression profiles despite having the same genetic material. There are various mechanisms by which epigenetic gene expression regulation can be achieved. These involve covalent modifications of either the DNA or proteins associated with the DNA, that is, histones in the case of nDNA, which may influence chromatin remodeling. The field of epigenetics has rapidly evolved over the past 50 years with the development of robust, single basepair resolution techniques, such as whole genome sequencing, to study this phenomenon (19).

DNA methylation involves the addition of a methyl group on the cytosine base giving rise to 5-methylcytosine (5mC). In mammalian nDNA, 5mC frequently occurs on CpG sites (cytosine base preceding a quanine base). Furthermore, these CpG sites frequently occur in clusters of about 1 kb. often surrounding transcription start sites, known as "CpG islands" (20). Interestingly, while hypermethylation within promoter regions has been shown to correlate with low gene expression, methylation within gene bodies is associated with actively transcribed genes (21). During early embryonic development. CpG methylation patterns are formed by the de novo methyltransferases, DNMT3A and DNMT3B, whereas maintenance of these methylation patterns is carried out by the maintenance methyltransferase,

DNMT1. Moreover, in some cases, DNA also undergoes demethylation, which can occur either passively during DNA replication when maintenance methylation by DNMT1 fails or actively by the action of Ten-eleven translocation (TET) enzymes (22). TET-induced DNA demethylation occurs through the interesting, yet less well studied, DNA modifications, 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), 5-formylcytosine (5fC) and 5-carboxylcytosine (5caC).

3. IS MITOCHONDRIAL GENE EXPRESSION REGULATED BY A MITOCHONDRIAL EPI-GENETIC LAYER?

3.1. The presence of mtDNA methylation

One of the leading questions with respect to the regulation of mitochondrial gene expression is whether epigenetic-like phenomena are present on the mtDNA and if such mechanisms indeed affect mitochondrial gene expression. To date, controversy still surrounds the notion of mtDNA methylation (Table 2). The discovery of the mitochondrial-localized DNA methyltransferase 1 (mtDNMT1) and the presence of mtDNA methylation by Shock, et al., (23) sparked the debate on the role of methylation and epigeneticlike mechanisms in regulating mitochondrial gene expression. Indeed, the discovery of the mtDNMT1 suggests that mtDNA undergoes methylation, contrary to earlier studies that disputed mtDNA methylation (see Table 2). The debate on the existence of mtDNA methylation stems from the early studies, which observed only low levels (<5%) of methylation (24-27), if any at all (28-30). It was unclear whether the observed methylation was merely an artefact, arising from the incomplete separation of the mtDNA from the nDNA or whether the absence of methylation was a consequence of the use of insensitive detection techniques (19). Interestingly, recent advanced single base pair resolution sequencing studies showed compelling evidence that mtDNA can be modified by methylation and even hydroxymethylation of mtDNA (see section 4, Table 2 and reviews by Manev et al., 2012 and van der Wijst et al., 2015 (19, 31)).

The absence of CpG islands in mtDNA is a strong argument that has been used to refute the idea that mtDNA undergoes functional methylation. Intriguingly, studies have shown that despite the absence of CpG islands, methylation within the D-loop and other loci within the mtDNA correlates with the expression of mitochondrial genes (32, 33). Besides CpG methylation, it has also been shown that mtDNA exhibits a peculiar non-CpG methylation pattern (CpC, CpA and CpT) which is characteristic of prokaryotic genomes such as those of bacteria (7, 12). In summary, this altogether points to the fact that methylation (5mC and 5hmC, CpG and non-CpG) occurs within the mtDNA.

3.2. Specific subregions with importance for functional methylation

The mitochondrial D-loop is unarguably one of the most important regions on the mtDNA due to its central role in transcription and replication. Apart from housing the promoters (LSP, HSP1 and HSP2), the D-loop also contains three conserved sequence blocks (CSB I, CSBII and CSBIII). Of these three CSBs, it has been reported that CBSII is particularly important for transcription termination and 7S DNA primer formation (34). Differential methylation within the D-loop has been reported in many studies now although none have been able to ascribe a precise function for it (7, 18, 35, 36). Since the D-loop plays an important role in mtDNA replication and transcription, it is likely that methylation of this region would influence mtDNA gene expression, either directly or indirectly, via modulation of the mtDNA copy number (Figure 2). A recent study by Bianchessi et al., (18) described D-loop methylation in replicative and senescent endothelial cells (ECs) and identified an uneven distribution of 5mC (both CpG and non-CpG) between the L-strand and the H-strand. Moreover, they found that methylated sites within the D-loop have a tendency to form clusters. Interestingly, on average, the frequency of methylation on the H-strand was found double compared to the L-strand. These findings concur with an earlier study by Bellizzi et al., (7) demonstrating that non-CpG methylation frequently occurs within CSBs. However, these two studies disagree as Bianchessi observed that CpA methylation occurs most frequently and CpC methylation occurs the least whereas Bellizzi reported that CpC methylation is dominant. Moreover, Bellizzi only detected methylation at the L-strand and not on the H-strand. In contrast, several studies have shown that both strands are methylated within the D-loop (18. 32, 35, 37). In retrospect, these differences may have arisen from the different species or cell types that have been used for the various studies. It is interesting to see whether the presence of non-CpG methylation within CSBs affects 7S DNA formation, which in turn may affect mtDNA replication.

Next to 5mC, also 5hmC was reported to be present in the mtDNA (6, 7, 23, 38). In two recent studies by Ghosh *et al.*, it was shown that 5mC marks are enriched in regions upstream of the gene start site (GSS) and within gene bodies while 5hmC marks cluster near the GSS rather than in the coding regions (gene bodies) of mitochondrial encoded genes (6, 38). Furthermore, in one of the studies they analyzed data sets from human brain mtDNA and showed that progressive reduction in 5mC across GSSs correlates with the development stage of the brain (38). Indeed, this spells out a possible epigenetic function of GSS methylation. However, the presence of 5hmC around the GSS did not correlate with gene expression (6).

Table 2	2.	Summar	v of mtDNA	(hvdroxv)	methylation
		ournina.	y 01 1110 147 1	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	mourylation

mtDNA methylation?	Source of mtDNA	Detection technique	Investigated area: Specific region vs whole mtDNA	Differentially methylated locus	Ref
Yes: 10-23% CpG 17-35% non-CpG,	-Human and mouse blood samples - Human skin fibroblasts, - HeLa, -143B.TK2 cells -3T3-L1 cells -Mouse embryonic stem cells	- BS-seq - Me/hMeDIP	Specific regions: D-loop	D-loop: -Only L-strand CpH methylation	(7)
Yes: 0.0.3-0.0.7% 5hmC, 0.10.3.% 5mC	-primary murine cerebellar granule neurons - Murine purkinje cells	-5mC/5hmC ELISA -DNA glucosylation + MSRE + qPCR	Whole mtDNA + Specific regions: D-loop, <i>MT-ND2</i> , <i>4, 5, MT-CO1, 3</i> , tRNAs	Gene body and D-loop: - <i>MT-ND2, MT-ND5</i> -D-loop	(8)
Yes:	-HUVEC (senescent vs replicative ECs)	-BS-seq	Specific regions: D-loop and <i>MT-CO1</i>	D-loop: -D-loop	(18)
Yes: 10-20 fold enrichment of 5mC and 85-580 fold enrichment of 5hmC	-primary embryonic fibroblasts (mouse) -HCT116	- Me/hMeDIP -DNA glucosylation + Glal-seq	Specific regions: D-loop, <i>12S</i> and 16S rRNA, MT-CO2, ATP6	Gene body: - 12S rRNA	(23)
Yes: 3.1.5% CpG methylation	- Beef heart	- TLC-UV/Vis	Whole mtDNA	ND	(24)
Yes: 2-5% of the CpG sequences is methylated	-Skin fibroblasts	- MSRE	Specific regions: (CCGG sites)	ND	(25)
Yes: 3-5% of the CpG sequences is methylated	- Ltk aprt mouse cells (fibroblastoid cell line)	- TLC-RAD - MSRE	Whole mtDNA + Specific regions: (CCGG sites)	Gene body: -12S and 16S rRNA region (<i>MT-RNR1</i> and <i>MT-RNR2</i>)	(26)
Yes: 0.20.6.% of all Cs is methylated	- Mouse fibroblasts - BHK21/C13, C13/B4, PvY cells	- TLC-RAD	Whole mtDNA	ND	(27)
No:	-Frog ovary -HeLa cells	- TLC-RAD	Whole mtDNA	NA	(28)
No	- Gastric cancer tissue -Colorectal cancer tissue	- BS-seq -BS-PCR-SSCP	Specific regions: 16S rRNA, <i>MT</i> -CO1, 2	NA	(29)
No:	- Yeast - <i>Neurospora crassa</i> - Calf cells - Rat cells	- MSRE	Specific regions: (CCGG sites)	NA	(30)
Yes:	-human liver samples (from NASH patients)	-MSP	Specific regions: <i>MT-ND6, MT-CO1</i> and D-loop	Gene body: - <i>MT-ND</i> 6	(33)
Yes:	-Colorectal cancer tissue (Human and rat)	-MSP	Specific regions: D-loop	D-loop -hypomethylated	(35)
Yes: 4.6 5.2. fold increase in 5mC	-Human blood samples (obese vs lean subjects)	-MSP	Specific regions: D-loop	D-loop -hypermethylated in obese subjects	(36)
Yes: CpG and non-CpG methylation	-Human brain tissue (AD patients) -Mouse brain tissue (AD and PD)	- 454 GS FLX Titanium pyrosequencer -hMeDIP	Specific regions: D-loop	D-loop: -hypermethylated in AD -not methylated in PD	(37)
Yes: 0-95% methylation at specific positions	-embryonic stem cells -Primary breast cells -PBMCs, CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ -Brain/neuronal cells -Penis cells	- WGBS -MeDIP-Seq	Whole mtDNA	Gene body/GSS and D-loop: - <i>MT-ND2, MT-ND4, MT-</i> <i>ND5, MT-ND6, CYB</i> genes, -P _H region -Spatio-temporal differences in gene start sites	(38)
Yes: 25% 5mCs of all Cs in healthy controls (vs 13% in Down Syndrome patients).	-Epstein-Barr virus-immortalized lymphoblastoid cell	-LC-ESI-MS/MS	Whole mtDNA	ND	(58)

Yes	Tumour samples from colorectal cancer patients	-MSP	Specific regions: D-loop	D-loop: -hypomethylated compared to non-cancerous tissue	(61)
Yes: 0.9.2-18.5.3% CpG	Human platelets (from CVD patients)	-Pyro-seq	Specific regions: MT-CO1, 2 & 3, MT-TL1, MT-ATP6 & 8, MT-ND-5	Gene body: MT-CO1, 2 & 3, MT-TL1	(62)
Yes: 2-6% 5mC	Human blood samples (18-91 year old female subjects)	-Illumina NGS	Specific region: <i>MT-RNR1</i>	Gene body: <i>MT-RNR1</i>	(63)
Yes: >10% 5mC	Human blood samples (38- 107 year old male and female subjects)	-BS-seq	Specific regions: <i>MT-RNR1</i> and <i>MT-RNR2</i>	Gene body: <i>MT-RNR1</i>	(64)
Yes <2% CpG methylation	-Human blood samples from people exposed to metal-rich paticulates	-Pyro-seq	Specific regions: D-loop, 12S rRNA, tRNA-F	D-loop -D-loop	(68)
Yes: ~1%-14% CpG	- Mouse blastocysts - Embryonic stem cells	- BS-seq	Whole mtDNA	ND	(69)
Yes: 1.6.%-6.5.% CpG	- White blood cells	- Pyro-seq	Specific regions: 12S rRNA, tRNA-F, D-loop	Gene body: -12S rRNA and tRNA-F region	(70)
Yes: 5mC (0.20.4.% of the input) 5hmC (0.0.5-0.1.5% of the input)	- Liver neonatal pigs	- Me/hMeDIP	Specific regions: D-loop	ND	(71)
No: 0.20.8.% CpG, 0.0.8-1.0.1% non-CpG	- HEK293 (embryonic kidney) cells - HCT116 (colon cancer) cells - Leukemia - Healthy blood cells (whole blood, PBMCs, B-cells, CD4 ⁺ or CD34 ⁺) - Healthy and cancerous breast cancer cells	- WGBS	Whole mtDNA + Specific regions	NA	(72)

This leaves 5mC as the most likely candidate to test whether GSS methylation influences gene expression. Apart from D-loop and GSSs, gene bodies might be important subregions where methylation may have a profound effect on gene expression. In the nDNA, it is known that 5mC in gene bodies is associated with actively transcribed genes (21). In mtDNA, differential gene body methylation, mostly 5mC, has indeed been shown to correlate with changes in mitochondrial gene expression and the progression of diseases such as non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) (see 4.1.).

3.3. The role of TFAM and other proteins directly associated with mtDNA

For nDNA, histone modifications are important epigenetic mechanisms that influence gene expression. However, in the mitochondria, histones are not associated with mtDNA and therefore mtDNA cannot undergo histone-mediated gene expression regulation (39). Interestingly, despite lacking histone proteins, the mtDNA is not naked; the mtDNA is clustered in protein-DNA complexes called nucleoids, of which the main constituent, TFAM, is thought to entirely coat the mtDNA (5, 40). TFAM is a versatile protein located in the mitochondrial matrix and it is thought to have a histone-like function (40). It is responsible for packaging and organizing the proteinmtDNA complex (5, 40, 41), a role that is played by histones in the nucleus. In addition to packaging the mtDNA, experimental evidence shows that TFAM promotes the replication, transcription and general maintenance of mtDNA (42). It binds mtDNA to initiate the transcription at the LSP and HSP1. On the other hand, it has been shown that HSP2 transcription is independent of TFAM, but rather depends on POLRMT and TFB2M (43). However, it has been described that TFAM has a dual function on HSP2 whereby it can activate or repress HSP2 transcription depending on the TFAM: TFB2M/POLRMT ratio (43, 44). TFAM appears to competitively repress HSP2, but its activity is diminished when the concentrations of TFB2M and POLRMT are high(44). In addition, Ngo and colleagues observed that the binding of TFAM to mtDNA generated a U-shaped bend, which is essential for both mtDNA compaction and transcriptional activation (40). Moreover, it has been shown that the accessibility of different sites on the mtDNA depends on the levels of TFAM occupancy, that is, regions with high TFAM occupancy are less accessible to DNMTs and hence they are difficult to methylate (45). This suggests that TFAM activity plays a role in determining the methylation pattern of mtDNA. Therefore, it is plausible that PTMs of TFAM may alter its binding



Figure 2. Proposed mechanisms of epigenetic regulation of mitochondrial gene expression.

to mtDNA, and thus, indirectly alter the methylation status of the mtDNA.

In the nDNA, histone PTMs, such as a cetylation and methylation, are important in epigenetic regulation of gene expression by changing the chromatin state (open versus closed). Interestingly, PTMs such as acetylation, phosphorylation and ubiguitination have been reported for TFAM (46-48). Of these three PTMs, TFAM phosphorylation has indeed been shown to impair TFAM binding activity. Unfortunately, the study did not assess the effects of TFAM phosphorylation on mitochondrial gene expression (48). This brings into question, whether TFAM phosphorylation or any other PTM actually has an influence on TFAM activity, translating to modulation of gene expression. Besides TFAM, other important factors that are associated with nucleoids include POLG, the mitochondrial DNA helicase Twinkle and the mitochondrial single-stranded DNA binding protein (mtSSB). While TFAM is involved in both mtDNA transcription and replication, POLG, Twinkle and mtSSB are thought to be only involved in mtDNA replication (49-51). Due to its versatile functions, TFAM appears to be the most prominent mitochondrial protein whose activity may greatly influence mitochondrial gene expression.

4. DISEASES AND CONDITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH DIFFERENTIAL MTDNA METHYLATION

Recent studies, as described in more detail below (4.1.-4.5.), report an increasing number of

diseases and conditions associated with changes in mtDNA methylation at various loci. This brings about the important question whether changes in mtDNA methylation are the cause for a disease or are a mere consequence of these diseases and whether this acts through gene expression regulation. At this stage it appears prudent to ask the question: does mtDNA methylation serve any purpose? In this respect, it is of importance to note that some studies have not been able to observe any correlation between differential mtDNA methylation and disease (see Table 2). Below, we highlight the diseases for which differential mtDNA methylation was reported and which thus might serve as model diseases to unravel the functional role of mtDNA methylation.

4.1. Metabolic disorders

Obesity, a leading metabolic disorder in developed countries, is associated with a higher risk of developing type II diabetes (52, 53). Understanding the different mechanisms that drive this intricate relationship is important to shed light on how metabolic disorders develop. Recently, a study showed that insulin signaling influences mtDNA methylation in obese human subjects (36). Increases in mtDNA methylation at the D-loop were strongly associated with obesity (5.2-fold increase compared to lean controls) and insulin resistance (4.6-fold increase compared to insulin sensitive controls). Interestingly, the level of methylation increased at the D-loop region only and, importantly, this correlated with a decrease in mtDNA copy number. A general assumption with regard to the decrease in mtDNA copy number is that it can have an overall effect on mitochondrial gene expression and therefore lead to mitochondrial dysfunction (54). From this study, it thus appears that D-loop methylation correlates with a decrease in mtDNA copy number, which may result in an overall cellular decrease of mitochondrial gene expression.

In addition, obese individuals are prone to liver diseases such as NASH (55, 56). NASH is characterized by triglyceride accumulation, hepatocellular damage and inflammation. Mitochondrial dysfunction contributes to the development of NASH due to disruption of lipid metabolism in the mitochondria. Recently it has been reported that mtDNA aggravates inflammation in NASH patients by activating the toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) pathway (57). Interestingly, a study by Pirola and colleagues showed that the MT-ND6 region is about 20% more methylated in NASH patients compared to the patients who are at the initial stages of the disease. Importantly, an increase in MT-ND6 methylation correlated with a decrease (>50%) in MT-ND6 mRNA and protein expression (33). Methylation was also measured in the D-loop and MT-COI but, although methylation could be detected in both diseased and healthy samples, these profiles did not correlate with NASH. The increase in methylation within the MT-ND6 gene body was associated with progression of the disease condition. The ND6 protein is a subunit of the mitochondrial complex I, which is a vital component of the electron transport chain (ETC) during ATP production. As such, a change in MT-ND6 expression may negatively impact on mitochondrial function, which includes lipid metabolism, and thus, contribute to the disease pathogenesis. This study presents an interesting notion with respect to gene body methylation and gene expression regulation whereby methylation prevents gene transcription. This is contrary to the widely accepted notion for nDNA where gene body methylation is associated with actively transcribed genes (21). However, it is important to note that the effect of methylation on gene expression might have been an indirect effect.

4.2. Neurodegenerative diseases (Down Syndrome, Alzheimer and Parkinson's disease)

In Down syndrome (DS) patients, the DNA methylome is known to be disturbed; in the nuclear genomes of DS subjects, global hypermethylation is observed (58-60), whereas the mitochondrial genomes are hypomethylated (58). Interestingly, DS patients have been shown to harbor a higher risk of developing early onset Alzheimer's disease (AD). Mitochondrial dysfunction has been shown to correlate with the development of neurodegenerative disorders, such as AD and Parkinson's disease (PD). A recent study was carried out using postmortem brain tissue from AD patients (37). In this study, only the D-loop was analyzed for methylation and it was observed that both CpG and non-CpG sites in the entorhinal cortex and substantia nigra of patients are methylated, whereas the authors could not detect methylation for healthy controls. In mouse models of AD, these dynamic methylation patterns were also observed. Interestingly, contrary to the observations in AD, the authors detected that the D-loop in a mouse PD model was not methylated in nearly all CpG and non-CpG sites. From these two contrasting observations it appears that mtDNA is differentially methylated depending on the disease. Mitochondrial dysfunction in neuronal tissue is associated with neurodegenerative diseases, hence, any factor that contributes to this dysfunction might have a key role in the disease initiation and progression. If mtDNA methylation has an effect on mitochondrial function then this propels it up as a potential candidate in the etiology and therapy of neurodegenerative diseases.

4.3. Colorectal cancer

Differential mtDNA methylation was recently reported for colorectal cancer in two studies by Feng et al., (35, 61). In both studies, progressive hypomethylation of the D-loop was observed in colorectal cancer patients and this corresponded with an increase in mitochondrial MT-ND2 expression. Intriguinaly, in both cohorts, the D-loop methylation was reported much higher in healthy controls (80% and 81.5.%) compared to colorectal cancer patients (11.4.% and 13.8.%). In both studies, the demethylation of the D-loop was associated with increased expression of *MT-ND2* and an increased mtDNA copy number during both the initial stages of colorectal cancer as well as during its progression (35, 61). In a letter to the editor. Maekawa and colleagues reported absence of mtDNA methylation in the MT-RNR2, MT-COI and MT-COII loci in 15 cancer cell lines and in tissues (both malignant and healthy) from 32 patients with gastric cancer and 25 patients with colorectal cancer ²⁹. However, it is important to note that in this study, methylation within the D-loop was not assessed, nor mitochondrial gene expression levels. The data provided in these studies suggests that colorectal cancer may be associated with differential D-loop methylation, which affects gene expression similarly as in the nDNA. However, it still leaves some questions unanswered with regard to whether the changes in gene expression are a direct or indirect effect of D-loop methylation. As described earlier, the D-loop acts as the control region of the mtDNA where polycistronic transcription of the mtDNA is initiated. Based on this polycistronic transcription, altered gene expression would have been expected to occur on all the H-strand encoded genes. Unfortunately, in these studies, expression of other mitochondrial genes was not measured.

4.4. Cardio-vascular diseases

Recently it was shown that platelet-derived mtDNA is hypermethylated in cardiovascular disease (CVD) patients compared the healthy controls, regardless of their age, race or BMI (62). Unlike most studies where researchers focus on the methylation state of the D-loop, the CVD study looked at methylation patterns within gene bodies. Significantly high levels of mtDNA methylation were only observed for MT-COI (18.5.3%), MT-COII (3.3.3%), MT-COIII (0.9.2%), and MT-TL1 (1.6.7%) in patients with CVD compared to the healthy controls (62). The occurrence of methylation within gene bodies suggests a potential mechanism of regulating gene expression in mtDNA, as was observed before in the MT-ND6 locus of NASH patients. Based on the existing evidence, methylation of the mtDNA appears to somehow affect the expression of mitochondrial genes, but not in a clear manner.

4.5. Aging

Mitochondria have been implicated in many studies as major drivers of the aging process . In light of this notion, hypotheses such as the free radical theory, rate of living theory and mtDNA mutations hypothesis have been proposed to explain the role of mitochondria in aging. In a recent study, it was observed that two CpG sites located within the 12S ribosomal RNA gene (MT-RNR1) are differentially methylated and this correlates with aging (63). This study confirms a previous study by D'Aquila et al., where they checked for methylation in MT-RNR1 and MT-RNR2. In this study, mtDNA methylation levels up to 10% were observed within the MT-RNR1 and this correlated with the age of the patients. Based on differential methylation within this gene, the age of 64.5% of patient samples was correctly predicted using a linear regression prediction model (64).Apart from being used as a marker for aging, methylation of mtDNA may provide new insights into the mechanisms that drive the aging process. However, it can be argued that as people age there is a manifestation of various diseases and conditions that may influence the mtDNA methylation state. Therefore, it is important to always include age-matched controls for disease association studies to avoid bias.

5. MtDNA METHYLATION AND DISEASES, A CAUSE OR CONSEQUENCE?

The examples described in section 4 indicate interesting associations between mtDNA methylation and disease, but the functional role of mtDNA methylation in the development of diseases remains an open question. The underlying question is whether mtDNA methylation contributes to gene expression dysregulation? While some studies open exciting options for mtDNA to be further explored as mechanisms underlying the "cause" of a disease, it is also possible that mtDNA methylation might be a mere consequence of the disease arising from the dysregulation of many vital metabolic pathways. According to the few epigenome association studies that have been reported on mtDNA methylation to date, the correlation between metabolic diseases (e.g., diabetes, NASH) and mtDNA methylation highlights its probable impact on metabolic pathways and/or vice versa. One of the pitfalls in studies aimed at deciphering the functional relevance of mtDNA methylation is the heteroplasmic nature of mtDNA. While methylation may be present at a particular location on a single mtDNA molecule, the probability that all the mtDNA molecules in the cell will have the same modification is uncertain. However, this may point to a possible physiological threshhold above which methylation has a noticeable effect on mitochondrial function and or gene expression. Existing data suggests that mtDNA methylation may be linked to mitochondrial gene expression via one of at least three mechanisms: methylation within the D-loop, methylation at the GSSs or within gene bodies and post-translational modifications of TFAM.

Differential methylation within the mitochondrial D-loop correlates with different diseases and is associated with changes in mtDNA copy number (35-37, 61). It is possible that D-loop methylation may influence mitochondrial gene expression either directly by altering mtDNA transcription, or indirectly by modulating mtDNA copy number. It can be hypothesized that via the regulation of TFAM binding to promoter regions, D-loop methylation may alter transcription. Moreover, any factor that modulates mtDNA copy number might indirectly influence gene expression (Figure 2) (54). An example of such a factor that may be influenced by D-loop methylation and may alter mtDNA copy number is the 7S DNA primer, as suggested by Bianchessi et al., (18). On the other hand, methylation on GSSs and gene bodies may potentially influence gene expression by affecting gene splicing. For instance, in nDNA, it has been reported that methylation within exons and splice sites regulates alternative splicing of mRNA precursors (65). This may be an alternative function for GSSs and gene body methylation, although the absence of introns in mtDNA excludes it from undergoing alternative splicing. However, based on evidence showing that mtDNA gene body methylation in some diseases correlates with altered gene expression it is possible that the polycistronic mitochondrial mRNA precursor undergoes unknown post-transcriptional modifications to influence gene expression.

TFAM binding to the mtDNA appears to play a crucial role in determining the accessibility of mitochondrial genes for other proteins by modulating mtDNA compaction. In the nDNA, compact heterochromatin is associated with repressed genes. This may be true for the mtDNA as well, whereby high levels of TFAM binding to the mtDNA are characteristic of compact mtDNA. There is indeed evidence that higher levels of TFAM increase mtDNA compaction and prevent methylation of CpG sites (40, 45). PTMs of TFAM may influence its binding to the mtDNA and as a consequence may modulate mtDNA compaction, mtDNA gene expression and replication. Together with TFB2M and POLRMT, TFAM is an important player in mtDNA transcription. Therefore, proteomic studies aiming at assessing the interaction between post-translationally modified TFAM and these other proteins may reveal undiscovered pathways by which TFAM may influence mitochondrial gene expression.

6. FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

To date, we have only scratched the surface of the topic on mitochondrial epigenetics and mitochondrial gene expression regulation. Whether mtDNA methylation contributes to disease pathogenesis by altering gene expression directly or indirectly remains a biological enigma that resembles the "chicken and egg" conundrum. As the debate rages on, it is important to understand the mechanisms that regulate transcription of mitochondrial genes. This assessment should take into account all epigeneticlike modifications on the mtDNA and its associated proteins. At present, even with the increasing number of studies on mtDNA methylation, it is difficult to attest that mtDNA methylation has a direct effect on gene expression. There is no clear mechanism that explains how this regulation on gene expression is achieved apart from the association studies that have been carried out. However, taking into account the increasing evidence that supports the notion that mtDNA methylation correlates with gene expression, there is need to further test this hypothesis. In this respect, epigenetic editing provides potent tools to test whether mtDNA methylation influences gene expression (66. 67). Indeed, the mitochondrial targeting of epigenetic enzymes fused to DNA binding domains designed to bind a mtDNA locus of interest could unravel the actual effects of methylation on gene expression. If indeed mtDNA methylation has a profound effect on the expression of mitochondrial genes then its role in the development of different diseases could be clearly defined. Moreover, the reversibility of DNA methylation presents an opportunity for the discovery of novel drug interventions to treat diseases associated with mtDNA methylation. Unravelling the function of mtDNA methylation and other epigenetic-like phenomena, such as TFAM phosphorylation and acetylation, may open new insights in the field of mitochondrial epigenetics, which could further aid in drug discovery directed to prevent or even treat the wide variety of diseases, known to be associated with dysfunctional mitochondria.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the University Medical Centre Groningen (UMCG), EU COST (CM1406; www.epichembio.eu) and the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO) through a ChemThem grant, No 728.0.11.1.01.

8. REFERENCES

- W. F. Graier, M. Frieden and R. Malli: Mitochondria and Ca(2+) signaling: old guests, new functions, *Pflugers Arch* 455, 375-396 (2007) DOI: 10.1007/s00424-007-0296-1
- A. Kasahara and L. Scorrano: Mitochondria: from cell death executioners to regulators of cell differentiation, *Trends Cell Biol* 24, 761-770 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.tcb.2014.08.005
- M. Akbar, M. M. Essa, G. Daradkeh, M. A. Abdelmegeed, Y. Choi, L. Mahmood and B. J. Song: Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Cell Death in Neurodegenerative Diseases through Nitroxidative Stress, *Brain Res* (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.brainres.2016.02.016
- M. Satoh and T. Kuroiwa: Organization of multiple nucleoids and DNA molecules in mitochondria of a human cell, *Exp Cell Res* 196, 137-140 (1991) DOI: 10.1016/0014-4827(91)90467-9
- D. F. Bogenhagen, Mitochondrial DNA nucleoid structure, *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1819, 914-920 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2011.11.005
- S. Ghosh, S. Sengupta and V. Scaria: Hydroxymethyl cytosine marks in the human mitochondrial genome are dynamic in nature, *Mitochondrion* (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.mito.2016.01.003
- D. Bellizzi, P. D'Aquila, T. Scafone, M. Giordano, V. Riso, A. Riccio and G. Passarino: The control region of mitochondrial DNA shows an unusual CpG and non-CpG methylation pattern, *DNA Res* 20, 537-547 (2013) DOI: 10.1093/dnares/dst029
- S. Dzitoyeva, H. Chen and H. Manev: Effect of aging on 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in brain mitochondria, *Neurobiol Aging* 33, 2881-2891 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.02.006

© 1996-2017

- T. J. Ettema, Evolution: Mitochondria in the second act, *Nature* (2016) DOI: 10.1038/nature16876
- A. A. Pittis and T. Gabaldon: Late acquisition of mitochondria by a host with chimaeric prokaryotic ancestry, *Nature* (2016) DOI: 10.1038/nature16941
- 11. M. W. Gray, Mitochondrial evolution, *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 4, a011403 (2012) DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011403
- A. Campbell, J. Mrazek and S. Karlin: Genome signature comparisons among prokaryote, plasmid, and mitochondrial DNA, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 9184-9189 (1999) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.96.16.9184
- T. J. Nicholls and M. Minczuk: In D-loop: 40 years of mitochondrial 7S DNA, *Exp Gerontol* 56, 175-181 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.exger.2014.03.027
- S. Anderson, A. T. Bankier, B. G. Barrell, M. H. de Bruijn, A. R. Coulson, J. Drouin, I. C. Eperon, D. P. Nierlich, B. A. Roe, F. Sanger, P. H. Schreier, A. J. Smith, R. Staden and I. G. Young: Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome, *Nature* 290, 457-465 (1981) DOI: 10.1038/290457a0
- 15. J. B. Stewart and P. F. Chinnery: The dynamics of mitochondrial DNA heteroplasmy: implications for human health and disease, *Nat Rev Genet* 16, 530-542 (2015) DOI: 10.1038/nrg3966
- D. Litonin, M. Sologub, Y. Shi, M. Savkina, M. Anikin, M. Falkenberg, C. M. Gustafsson and D. Temiakov: Human mitochondrial transcription revisited: only TFAM and TFB2M are required for transcription of the mitochondrial genes *in vitro*, *J Biol Chem* 285, 18129-18133 (2010) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.c110.128918
- 17. I. J. Holt and A. Reyes: Human Mitochondrial DNA Replication, *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 4, a012971 (2012) DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a012971
- V. Bianchessi, M. C. Vinci, P. Nigro, V. Rizzi, F. Farina, M. C. Capogrossi, G. Pompilio, V. Gualdi and A. Lauri: Methylation profiling by bisulfite sequencing analysis of the mtDNA Non-Coding Region in replicative and

senescent Endothelial Cells, *Mitochondrion* 27, 40-47 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.mito.2016.02.004

- 19. M. G. van der Wijst and M. G. Rots: Mitochondrial epigenetics: an overlooked layer of regulation? *Trends Genet* (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.tig.2015.03.009
- K. Wani and K. D. Aldape: PCR Techniques in Characterizing DNA Methylation, *Methods Mol Biol* 1392, 177-186 (2016) DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3360-0_16
- P. A. Jones, Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond, *Nat Rev Genet* 13, 484-492 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/nrg3230
- Z. X. Chen and A. D. Riggs: DNA methylation and demethylation in mammals, *J Biol Chem* 286, 18347-18353 (2011) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.r110.205286
- L. S. Shock, P. V. Thakkar, E. J. Peterson, R. G. Moran and S. M. Taylor: DNA methyltransferase 1, cytosine methylation, and cytosine hydroxymethylation in mammalian mitochondria, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108, 3630-3635 (2011) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1012311108
- 24. B. F. Vanyushin and M. D. Kirnos: The nucleotide composition and pyrimidine clusters in DNA from beef heart mitochondria, *FEBS Lett* 39, 195-199 (1974) DOI: 10.1016/0014-5793(74)80049-9
- 25. R. J. Shmookler Reis and S. Goldstein: Mitochondrial DNA in mortal and immortal human cells. Genome number, integrity, and methylation, *J Biol Chem* 258, 9078-9085 (1983)
- Y. Pollack, J. Kasir, R. Shemer, S. Metzger and M. Szyf: Methylation pattern of mouse mitochondrial DNA, *Nucleic Acids Res* 12, 4811-4824 (1984) DOI: 10.1093/nar/12.12.4811
- M. M. Nass, Differential methylation of mitochondrial and nuclear DNA in cultured mouse, hamster and virus-transformed hamster cells. *In vivo* and *in vitro* methylation, *J Mol Biol* 80, 155-175 (1973) DOI: 10.1016/0022-2836(73)90239-8
- 28. I. B. Dawid, 5-methylcytidylic acid: absence from mitochondrial DNA of frogs and HeLa

cells, *Science* 184, 80-81 (1974) DOI: 10.1126/science.184.4132.80

- M. Maekawa, T. Taniguchi, H. Higashi, H. Sugimura, K. Sugano and T. Kanno: Methylation of mitochondrial DNA is not a useful marker for cancer detection, *Clin Chem* 50, 1480-1481 (2004) DOI: 10.1373/clinchem.2004.035139
- G. S. Groot and A. M. Kroon: Mitochondrial DNA from various organisms does not contain internally methylated cytosine in -CCGG- sequences, *Biochim Biophys Acta* 564, 355-357 (1979) DOI: 10.1016/0005-2787(79)90233-8
- H. Manev, S. Dzitoyeva and H. Chen: Mitochondrial DNA: A Blind Spot in Neuroepigenetics, *Biomol Concepts* 3, 107-115 (2012) DOI: 10.1515/bmc-2011-0058
- 32. M. Mishra and R. A. Kowluru: Epigenetic Modification of Mitochondrial DNA in the Development of Diabetic Retinopathy, *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 56, 5133-5142 (2015) DOI: 10.1167/iovs.15-16937
- C. J. Pirola, T. F. Gianotti, A. L. Burgueno, M. Rey-Funes, C. F. Loidl, P. Mallardi, J. S. Martino, G. O. Castano and S. Sookoian: Epigenetic modification of liver mitochondrial DNA is associated with histological severity of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, *Gut* 62, 1356-1363 (2013) DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302962
- 34. X. H. Pham, G. Farge, Y. Shi, M. Gaspari, C. M. Gustafsson and M. Falkenberg: Conserved sequence box II directs transcription termination and primer formation in mitochondria, *J Biol Chem* 281, 24647-24652 (2006) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.m602429200
- 35. S. Feng, L. Xiong, Z. Ji, W. Cheng and H. Yang: Correlation between increased ND2 expression and demethylated displacement loop of mtDNA in colorectal cancer, *Mol Med Rep* 6, 125-130 (2012) DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2012.870
- L. D. Zheng, L. E. Linarelli, L. Liu, S. S. Wall, M. H. Greenawald, R. W. Seidel, P. A. Estabrooks, F. A. Almeida and Z. Cheng: Insulin resistance is associated with epigenetic and genetic regulation of

mitochondrial DNA in obese humans, *Clin Epigenetics* 7, 60-015-0093-1. eCollection 2015 (2015) DOI: 10.1186/s13148-015-0093-1

- M. Blanch, J. L. Mosquera, B. Ansoleaga, I. Ferrer and M. Barrachina: Altered Mitochondrial DNA Methylation Pattern in Alzheimer Disease-Related Pathology and in Parkinson Disease, *Am J Pathol* 186, 385-397 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.10.004
- 38. S. Ghosh, S. Sengupta and V. Scaria: Comparative analysis of human mitochondrial methylomes shows distinct patterns of epigenetic regulation in mitochondria, *Mitochondrion* 18, 58-62 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.mito.2014.07.007
- 39. Y. S. Choi, J. Hoon Jeong, H. K. Min, H. J. Jung, D. Hwang, S. W. Lee and Y. Kim Pak: Shot-gun proteomic analysis of mitochondrial D-loop DNA binding proteins: identification of mitochondrial histones, *Mol Biosyst* 7, 1523-1536 (2011) DOI: 10.1039/c0mb00277a
- H. B. Ngo, G. A. Lovely, R. Phillips and D. C. Chan: Distinct structural features of TFAM drive mitochondrial DNA packaging versus transcriptional activation, *Nat Commun* 5, 3077 (2014) DOI: 10.1038/ncomms4077
- 41. R. P. Fisher, T. Lisowsky, M. A. Parisi and D. A. Clayton: DNA wrapping and bending by a mitochondrial high mobility group-like transcriptional activator protein, *J Biol Chem* 267, 3358-3367 (1992)
- R. J. Marina and X. D. Fu: Diabetic Insult-Induced Redistribution of MicroRNA in Spatially Organized Mitochondria in Cardiac Muscle, *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* 8, 747-748 (2015) DOI: 10.1161/circgenetics.115.001258
- 43. O. Zollo, V. Tiranti and N. Sondheimer: Transcriptional requirements of the distal heavy-strand promoter of mtDNA, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109, 6508-6512 (2012) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1118594109
- M. F. Lodeiro, A. Uchida, M. Bestwick, I. M. Moustafa, J. J. Arnold, G. S. Shadel and C. E. Cameron: Transcription from the second heavy-strand promoter of human mtDNA is

repressed by transcription factor A *in vitro*, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109, 6513-6518 (2012) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1118710109

- 45. A. P. Rebelo, S. L. Williams and C. T. Moraes: In vivo methylation of mtDNA reveals the dynamics of protein-mtDNA interactions, Nucleic Acids Res 37, 6701-6715 (2009) DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkp727
- 46. J. M. Santos, M. Mishra and R. A. Kowluru: Posttranslational modification of mitochondrial transcription factor A in impaired mitochondria biogenesis: implications in diabetic retinopathy and metabolic memory phenomenon, *Exp Eye Res* 121, 168-177 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.exer.2014.02.010
- 47. M. M. Dinardo, C. Musicco, F. Fracasso, F. Milella, M. N. Gadaleta, G. Gadaleta and P. Cantatore: Acetylation and level of mitochondrial transcription factor A in several organs of young and old rats, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 301, 187-191 (2003) DOI: 10.1016/s0006-291x(02)03008-5
- 48. B. Lu, J. Lee, X. Nie, M. Li, Y. I. Morozov, S. Venkatesh, D. F. Bogenhagen, D. Temiakov and C. K. Suzuki: Phosphorylation of human TFAM in mitochondria impairs DNA binding and promotes degradation by the AAA+ Lon protease, *Mol Cell* 49, 121-132 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.10.023
- 49. J. N. Spelbrink, Functional organization of mammalian mitochondrial DNA in nucleoids: history, recent developments, and future challenges, *IUBMB Life* 62, 19-32 (2010) DOI: 10.1002/iub.282
- N. Garrido, L. Griparic, E. Jokitalo, J. Wartiovaara, A. M. van der Bliek and J. N. Spelbrink: Composition and dynamics of human mitochondrial nucleoids, *Mol Biol Cell* 14, 1583-1596 (2003)
- 51. D. A. Clayton, Mitochondrial DNA replication: what we know, *IUBMB Life* 55, 213-217 (2003) DOI: 10.1080/1521654031000134824
- 52. R. H. Eckel, S. E. Kahn, E. Ferrannini, A. B. Goldfine, D. M. Nathan, M. W. Schwartz, R. J. Smith and S. R. Smith: Obesity and type 2 diabetes: what can be unified and what needs to be individualized? *J Clin Endocrinol*

Metab 96, 1654-1663 (2011) DOI: 10.1210/jc.2011-0585

- S. E. Kahn, R. L. Hull and K. M. Utzschneider: Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes, *Nature* 444, 840-846 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/nature05482
- 54. T. Ide, H. Tsutsui, S. Hayashidani, D. Kang, N. Suematsu, K. Nakamura, H. Utsumi, N. Hamasaki and A. Takeshita: Mitochondrial DNA damage and dysfunction associated with oxidative stress in failing hearts after myocardial infarction, *Circ Res* 88, 529-535 (2001) DOI: 10.1161/01.res.88.5.529
- J. Yu, J. Shen, T. T. Sun, X. Zhang and N. Wong: Obesity, insulin resistance, NASH and hepatocellular carcinoma, *Semin Cancer Biol* 23, 483-491 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.07.003
- 56. S. R. Ande, K. H. Nguyen, B. L. Gregoire Nyomba and S. Mishra: Prohibitin-induced, obesity-associated insulin resistance and accompanying low-grade inflammation causes NASH and HCC, *Sci Rep* 6, 23608 (2016) DOI: 10.1038/srep23608
- I. Garcia-Martinez, N. Santoro, Y. Chen, R. Hoque, X. Ouyang, S. Caprio, M. J. Shlomchik, R. L. Coffman, A. Candia and W. Z. Mehal: Hepatocyte mitochondrial DNA drives nonalcoholic steatohepatitis by activation of TLR9, *J Clin Invest* (2016) DOI: 10.1172/jci83885
- 58. V. Infantino, A. Castegna, F. Iacobazzi, I. Spera, I. Scala, G. Andria and V. Iacobazzi: Impairment of methyl cycle affects mitochondrial methyl availability and glutathione level in Down's syndrome, *Mol Genet Metab* 102, 378-382 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2010.11.166
- 59. A. Chango, L. Abdennebi-Najar, F. Tessier, S. Ferre, S. Do, J. L. Gueant, J. P. Nicolas and F. Willequet: Quantitative methylation-sensitive arbitrarily primed PCR method to determine differential genomic DNA methylation in Down Syndrome, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 349, 492-496 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.08.038
- 60. M. Pogribna, S. Melnyk, I. Pogribny, A. Chango, P. Yi and S. J. James: Homocysteine

metabolism in children with Down syndrome: *in vitro* modulation, *Am J Hum Genet* 69, 88-95 (2001) DOI: 10.1086/321262

- J. Gao, S. Wen, H. Zhou and S. Feng: De-methylation of displacement loop of mitochondrial DNA is associated with increased mitochondrial copy number and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide subunit 2 expression in colorectal cancer, *Mol Med Rep* 12, 7033-7038 (2015) DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2015.4256
- A. A. Baccarelli and H. M. Byun: Platelet mitochondrial DNA methylation: a potential new marker of cardiovascular disease, *Clin Epigenetics* 7, 44-015-0078-0. eCollection 2015 (2015) DOI: 10.1186/s13148-015-0078-0
- S. K. Mawlood, L. Dennany, N. Watson, J. Dempster and B. S. Pickard: Quantification of global mitochondrial DNA methylation levels and inverse correlation with age at two CpG sites, *Aging (Albany NY)* 8, 636-641 (2016) DOI: 10.18632/aging.100892
- P. D'Aquila, M. Giordano, A. Montesanto, F. De Rango, G. Passarino and D. Bellizzi: Ageand gender-related pattern of methylation in the MT-RNR1 gene, *Epigenomics* 7, 707-716 (2015) DOI: 10.2217/epi.15.30
- 65. G. Lev Maor, A. Yearim and G. Ast: The alternative role of DNA methylation in splicing regulation, *Trends Genet* 31, 274-280 (2015) DOI: 10.2217/epi.15.30
- 66. M. L. de Groote, P. J. Verschure and M. G. Rots: Epigenetic Editing: targeted rewriting of epigenetic marks to modulate expression of selected target genes, *Nucleic Acids Res* 40, 10596-10613 (2012) DOI: 10.1093/nar/gks863
- T. P. Jurkowski, M. Ravichandran and P. Stepper: Synthetic epigenetics-towards intelligent control of epigenetic states and cell identity, *Clin Epigenetics* 7, 18-015-0044-x. eCollection 2015 (2015) DOI: 10.1186/s13148-015-0044-x
- H. M. Byun, E. Colicino, L. Trevisi, T. Fan, D. C. Christiani and A. A. Baccarelli: Effects of Air Pollution and Blood Mitochondrial DNA Methylation on Markers of Heart Rate

Variability, *J Am Heart Assoc* 5, 10.1.161/ JAHA.116.0.03218 (2016) DOI: 10.1161/jaha.116.003218

- H. Kobayashi, T. Sakurai, M. Imai, N. Takahashi, A. Fukuda, O. Yayoi, S. Sato, K. Nakabayashi, K. Hata, Y. Sotomaru, Y. Suzuki and T. Kono: Contribution of intragenic DNA methylation in mouse gametic DNA methylomes to establish oocyte-specific heritable marks, *PLoS Genet* 8, e1002440 (2012) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002440
- 70. H. M. Byun, T. Panni, V. Motta, L. Hou, F. Nordio, P. Apostoli, P. A. Bertazzi and A. A. Baccarelli: Effects of airborne pollutants on mitochondrial DNA methylation, *Part Fibre Toxicol* 10, 18-8977-10-18 (2013) DOI: 10.1186/1743-8977-10-18
- 71. Y. Jia, R. Li, R. Cong, X. Yang, Q. Sun, N. Parvizi and R. Zhao: Maternal lowprotein diet affects epigenetic regulation of hepatic mitochondrial DNA transcription in a sex-specific manner in newborn piglets associated with GR binding to its promoter, *PLoS One* 8, e63855 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0063855
- 72. E. E. Hong, C. Y. Okitsu, A. D. Smith and C. L. Hsieh: Regionally specific and genomewide analyses conclusively demonstrate the absence of CpG methylation in human mitochondrial DNA, *Mol Cell Biol* 33, 2683-2690 (2013) DOI: 10.1128/mcb.00220-13

Abbreviations: HUVEC, Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells; 5hmC, 5-hydroxymethvlcvtosine; 5mC, 5-methylcvtosine; Glal -Seq, restriction endonuclease Glal coupled with sequencing; ATP6, ATP synthase F0 subunit 6; BS-seq, bisulfite sequencing; WGBS, Whole genome bisulfite sequencing; BS-PCR-SSCP, Bisulfite-PCR-single-stranded DNA conformation polymorphism (SSCP) analysis; NGS, Next generation sequencing; COII, cytochrome c oxidase subunit II; CYB, cytochrome B; CpG, C-phosphate-G dinucleotide; CpH, C-phosphate-(A/C/T) dinucleotide; CSB, conserved sequence block; Me/hMeDIP, 5mC/5hmC DNA immunoprecipitation; LC-ESI-MS/MS, liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-tandem mass spectrometry; NA, not applicable; ND, not determined; ND2/4/5/6, NADH-ubiquinone oxidoreductase chain 2/4/5/6; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; P_µ, promoter region H-strand; rRNA, ribosomal RNA; TLC-UV/Vis/RAD, thin-layer chromatography/ ultra violet spectrometry/radioactivity detection. MSP, Methylation specific PCR. MSRE, Methylation-sensitive restriction enzymes; CVD, cardiovascular disease, AD, Alzheimer's disease; PD, Parkinson's disease

Key Words: Mitochondrial epigenetics, MtDNA methylation, Gene expression, D-loop, TFAM, Review

Send correspondence to: Marianne. G Rots, Department of Medical Biology and Pathology, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Hanzeplein 1, 9713 GZ Groningen, The Netherlands, Tel: 31 50 361 0153, Fax: 31 50 361 9911, E-mail: m.g.rots@ umcg.nl